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NO UNDERTAKINGS ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING

Wednesday, March 8, 2006


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:05 a.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

     Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in the matter of application RP-2005‑0520 submitted by Union Gas Limited for an order or orders approving or fixing rates and other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas in their fiscal year 2007.

     An issues conference involving the company, intervenors and Board Staff was held on March 3rd to clarify issues and to identify proposed modifications and additions to the issues list.


We understand that the parties have not reached an agreement on all of the issues to pursue in the hearing of this application and the Board sits to hear the submissions on the issues and to consider if the proposed list is appropriate in defining the framework of a hearing today.

     My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be the presiding member in this hearing, and joining me today on the panel is Board member Ken Quesnelle.

     May I have appearances, please, starting with the applicant?

     APPEARANCES:
     MR. SMITH:  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the Board.  My name is Crawford Smith.  I'm with Torys, LLP.  My colleague, Michael Penny, and I will be, throughout this proceeding, counsel for Union Gas.  On my -- formerly on my right, now on my left, is Michael Packer from Union Gas, and on Mr. Packer's left is Bryan Goulden, also from Union Gas regulatory group.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, member of the Panel.  It is Murray Klippenstein appearing for Pollution Probe.

     MS. NOWINA:  Good morning, Mr. Klippenstein.

     MR. DeROSE:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Vince De Rose on behalf of IGUA.  I expect throughout the hearing you will see both myself and Peter Thompson, and Mr. Warren has asked that I also record an appearance for him on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.  He is unable to be here today.  He asked that I do put on the record that they do not oppose ‑‑ sorry, they're taking no position with respect to the contested issues today.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

     MR. RYDER:  Yes, my name is Alec Ryder and I appear for the City of Kitchener gas utility.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.


MS. DeMARCO:  Elizabeth DeMarco, and I am here on behalf of TransAlta Utilities, Coral Energy and Superior Energy Management.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  John DeVellis on behalf of Schools Energy Coalition.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  I'm going to have to get used to that.

     MR. KEYS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Patrick Keys.  I'm legal counsel for TransCanada Pipelines Limited, and sitting on my right is Mr. Murray Ross who will be working with us.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Keys.

     MR. SCULLY:  Peter Scully for the Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities and the Cities of Timmins and Greater Sudbury.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Scully.


MR. DINGWALL:  Brian Dingwall for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.  Tom Adams will be joining us a little later.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. JACKSON:  Malcolm Jackson, FRC Canada, for the Low‑Income Energy Network.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Madam Chair, Jim Gruenbauer with Mr. Ryder for the City of Kitchener.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Gruenbauer.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro for Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear your last name.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  For?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm replacing John DeVellis with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  


MS. BODNER:  Barbara Bodner for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Bodner.


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar for Board Staff.  To my

immediate left is Mr. Rudra Mukerjee and to his left is Colin Schuch.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, just a quick correction to the record.  I'm starting off on a good foot this morning.  I believe I said TransAlta Utilities.  Appropriately, the legal entities from TransAlta are TransAlta Cogeneration LP and TransAlta Energy Corp., which together shall be referred to as TransAlta.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters for our consideration?

     PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  I believe there are a number of preliminary matters, Madam Chair.  Perhaps I will go first, if nobody objects.


As the Board is aware - and probably most of the intervenors are now aware, and the applicant - we have a new intervenor in this matter, a Mr. Crockford.  Mr. Crockford is a private citizen and a ratepayer living in Sudbury, I believe.  Mr. Crockford received the complete application just this Monday, and the Board decided to grant him extra time to prepare his submissions on the issues list.  He's been granted that extension until, I think it is, March 20th.


That will mean that, assuming the Board issues a procedural order with the issues list prior to March 20th, it should be an interim procedural order and issues list.  If the Board decides to change the issues list after receiving Mr. Crockford's submissions, a new and final procedural order with issues list would have to be issued.  If that were to happen, the Board would have to at least consider changing some of the IR dates to allow for questions on any of the new issues arising from Mr. Crockford's submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Are there any concerns from anyone on Mr. Millar's statements?


MR. SMITH:  None from me in this respect.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  In terms of our format for today, I would expect we will take a break around 10:30 or quarter to 11:00.  We will have lunch at 12:30, if we're really going that long.


I just wanted to mention one preliminary matter myself, and that is the role of Board Staff in this proceeding.  It won't make any difference today, but just so you know our plans, that our plan is that Board Staff will not take any advocacy position in this proceeding.  However, I have asked Board counsel to begin the witness examination after the applicant has had their examination, just for examination of facts.  So that is to help you prepare for a hearing coming in May.


Are there any other preliminary matters?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I have one, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  It has to do with the schedule in the proceeding, in particular the date on which intervenor evidence is due, currently April 7th.  The IR responses from the company aren't due until April 4th.  This only gives us three days to prepare evidence on the ‑‑ after receipt of the IR responses.


We believe it is important for prospective witnesses to have the IR responses before completing their evidence, and we have already heard from one perspective witness who has indicated that the three-day time line is just not workable for him.  So what we are proposing is to extend the deadline from -- for intervenor evidence to April 13th.  


However, we're not proposing to change the ultimate date of April 28th when intervenor ‑‑ responses to intervenor interrogatories are due.  What we're proposing is to change the date to April 13th for intervenor evidence, and then interrogatories on intervenor evidence would be ‑‑ interrogatories to intervenors on that evidence would be due on the 20th.  Then our responses would be due on the 28th.  


So what we're really doing is shortening the time frame that we would have to provide responses to interrogatories by giving us greater ‑‑ a longer time to prepare the evidence.


MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone have comments on Mr. DeVellis's proposal?


MR. SMITH:  I have no comment, save this.  The timetable in this matter was circulated -- draft timetable was circulated by Board Staff and submissions were received, as I understand it, on that draft timetable.


There were, as I understand it, submissions on precisely this point, as people identified this as potential point of concern and other things.  The Board then issued a procedural order, which made a number of changes to the schedule, although did not address this.  So presumably the Board would have received all submissions and incorporated them therein.  


So to the extent this matter has been -- to a certain extent this matter has been and properly was dealt with at an earlier stage.  I'm not sure it is appropriate for today.  I don't, however, particularly quarrel with my friend's concern, which is a difficult time line, I appreciate.


MS. NOWINA:  That is what I would appreciate submissions on, is whether or not Mr. DeVellis's suggestion is a problem to anyone.


Perhaps I will give you until after break, if you would like to take some time to consider that.  Then after break, you can give me any comments that you have on the proposed time line.


Any other preliminary matters?


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I have two general matters that are not necessarily preliminary matters and might be most appropriately dealt with as the issues are -- the contested issues are addressed in the context of the issues list, and, secondly, in the context of the -- what I will call the issues exclusion list.


I am in your hands as to whether or not you would like them raised now, and or at a later point in this.


MS. NOWINA:  Are they general comments, or do they speak to a particular issue, other than the ones on the issues exclusion list?


MS. DeMARCO:  One is a general comment pertaining to the term "appropriate" as it is used throughout the issues list.  The second is in relation to some consequences resulting from the issues exclusion list.

MS. NOWINA:  I think that’s the way I would like to do it, Ms. DeMarco, so let's talk about the format.  Perhaps Mr. Smith can just go through the issue list overall for us.  Then we will take general submissions on the issues list, and then we will go through the contested issues one at a time and take submissions on that, so your comments will come after the initial discussion of the issues list.  

Does that make sense to you?     

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you very much.     

MS. NOWINA:  We will do it that way.  Any other preliminary matters?  All right.     

MR. MACINTOSH:  Madam Chair, David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.  Mr. Adams was otherwise occupied earlier this morning, but expects to be here a little after 10:00.     I am asking that the contested issue on risk management be handled out of sequence so that he can be here to address that.     

MS. NOWINA:  I think we can accommodate that, Mr. MacIntosh.     

MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Any other matters?     

MR. SMITH:  No.     

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Smith.     

PRESENTATION OF ISSUES LIST BY MR. SMITH:  

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, as you pointed out in opening, the parties met last week to discuss a proposed issues list for this proceeding.  The discussion was a good and productive one.     

You will have the proposed issues list that was circulated following that meeting.  I believe it was circulated Friday afternoon.  Parties had an opportunity to make additional submissions on it, by e-mail through the Monday and later that day a proposed issues list was circulated by Board Staff.     

My understanding is other than the issues which are identified as contested, the parties are in agreement and Union is prepared to proceed on the basis of the proposed issues list which was circulated by Board Staff.     

What I would propose to do today, subject of course to your comments, is to invite the parties who are the proponents of the contested issues, I think you can take it that Union objects to them.  The proponents of the particular contested issues can make their submissions in support of that issue.  Parties who would like to respond to that may do so, with the applicant having final right of response on the contested issue.     

I think that would be an efficient way to deal with it, subject to Mr. MacIntosh's comment.  I believe risk management, as it turns out, is the first issue, so we would put that off until after perhaps the morning break when Mr. Adams is here.     

So unless you would like me to go through the actual issues themselves, issue by issue, I can advise you the applicant is contest with the proposed list, subject to the contested issues.     

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.     

So let's take submissions then on the list in general.  Ms. DeMarco, you have some of those?     

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:  

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe that Mr. Smith and I have a common understanding of the use of the term “appropriate” throughout the draft issues list, and I leave it in your hands as to whether or not you want to hear from me or Mr. Smith as to the nature of that understanding.  I think we're both prepared to speak to that.     

MR. SMITH:  Maybe I can just spell it out.  I will take this only opportunity just to highlight --     

MS. NOWINA:  Do I need to get my dictionary, Mr. Smith?     

MR. SMITH:  No.  No.  You absolutely do not.  In fact, just launching right into it, I believe the word "appropriate" was chosen specifically because people have a general “at large” understanding of what the word appropriate means.  Simply by way of example, because I think Ms. DeMarco would like this or appreciate this on the record, there are a number of places throughout the issues list where the word "appropriate" is used and it maybe used in the context or, for example, a forecast.     

Our understanding of “appropriate” in that context is not just that people will be entitled, intervenors will be entitled to ask as to the particular figure associated with the forecast, but will be entitled to ask, throughout this proceeding, the constituent questions regarding the constituent elements.  What I mean by that is a forecast is made up of a number of building blocks, A, B and C.  The forecast is only appropriate having regard to those building blocks.  So if intervenors have legitimate concerns about those building blocks, they are certainly entitled to ask questions thereon.     

You will see that there are, as we go through the day, however, a number of issues where Union's position is somewhat different because the issue that has been raised is one, in my submission, that's been dealt with on a number of occasions by this Board and it is no longer appropriate to revisit that issue.  But we've specifically raised those.     

MS. NOWINA:  Ms. DeMarco?     

MS. DeMARCO:  Just for the clarity, Madam Chair.  This is consistent with the Board's determination on Issues Day and the EB-2004-0477 proceeding, which was the Issues Day in the IESO's 2005 fees wherein the Board was faced with a determination of whether or not its ruling, in relation to a fees application, was limited to the quantum of the figures, or whether it included the specific itemization and yes or no decisions on a go-forward basis on the con student elements that made up those quanta.    

So I believe we have a common understanding and might add to the clarity in terms of what questions can and cannot be fairly asked, in the context of this issues list.     

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Does anyone else have a submission on that point?     

I think we agree with you both.  That's fine.  We have it on the record.  

Your second issue, Ms. DeMarco, was…     

MS. DeMARCO:  The second issue was basically a request for some procedural guidance, as there are a number of issues on the draft issues exclusion list that are nonetheless forming part of the quantum of the constituent cost-of-service application.     

So any direction from the Board as to how those items and the associated costs forming part of the cost of service will be treated, would be very welcomed, I think, by a number of the intervenors.     

MS. NOWINA:  Can you expand on that a little bit, Ms. DeMarco?     

MS. DeMARCO:  For example, I believe there are elements in the rate application pertaining to, for example, DSM and or certain storage and transportation rates that have been included in the issues to be hived off in various other proceedings in the draft exclusion list, namely the NGEIR proceeding and the DSM proceeding.  So any clarity as to how those items will be treated in the context of the parallel and pending proceedings, I think, would be warranted and welcomed, certainly by my clients.     

MR. SMITH:  If I may, Madam Chair, just to assist.  As Ms. DeMarco has identified, there are a number of generic hearings, the best example, perhaps is DSM.     

There is evidence in Union's application which was compiled prior to the Board's procedural order which directed the DSM generic hearing.  There is evidence in Union's application in this case which relates to that issue.     

It's not Union's intention nor do I think it would usefully serve anybody's interest, to strip out of its evidence relating to DSM, although DSM is going to be dealt with in the generic hearing.  Parties may ask interrogatories to understand what the financial impact is or what the make-up of the forecast is that relates to DSM and Union will answer those interrogatories, so people have an understanding.     

It was Union's intention, having regard to the generic hearings, that it would have this proceeding.  It would receive a decision from the Board.  The Board would render a decision in the other generic proceedings and Union would then incorporate, by the end of the year, whatever guidance is given by the Board in those other generic proceedings into a rate schedule for rates which would take effect January 1.     

From Union's perspective, I am not sure that the Board needs to grant any procedural guidance in this proceeding.  We have a proceeding before us.  There are other separate proceedings.  Yes, there will be some issues that were initially envisioned for this proceeding which might get dealt with at a generic proceeding but the Board will make a determination in those, and the impact of which will be rolled out into a rate schedule for next year.     

This was raised during the issues conference last week.  Our intention was stated, as I just did, and we just draw it to your attention so that the Board, as I am sure it is, is just aware of the overlapping implications of a couple of proceedings.     

MS. NOWINA:  We are, indeed, Mr. Smith. Any other submissions on this point?     

So, Ms. DeMarco, if you could help us a little.  What kind of direction are you asking us to give or clarification are you asking us to give?


MS. DeMARCO:  I think Mr. Smith has gone down a path which is quite useful, for example, taking DSM or other matters appropriately within the context of NGIER.  Would it, in this hearing or proceeding be appropriate to ask questions while status quo amounts remain in the application, or, rather, would those questions be more appropriately asked in the context of NGIER or the DSM generic proceeding?


It is a question of both efficiency in this context and scope of issues associated with matters that are straddling both proceedings.  So anything to facilitate efficiency and a clear direction as to where questions are best and most appropriately asked on issues that would otherwise be excluded, but still include status quo amounts in this proceeding would be welcome.


MS. NOWINA:  As I consider this, it is helpful -- the example that Mr. Smith gave is helpful, because that's a specific instance and I think that we can probably address that specific instance.


We would have to turn our minds to what are the other instances that fall in the same category, and I personally am not certain that I am aware of all of them right now.


So again perhaps we will take some time to consider that more over the break.  I will ask Board Staff to help the Panel with considering what those items might be, and we may or may not come back with more direction for you after the break.


MR. RYDER:  Madam Chair, can I just speak to that issue for the City of Kitchener.  We have some issues which have -- some issues which will be dealt with NGIER that have cost implications currently.


So my proposal, my recommendation, would be that each of these areas will have to be addressed on a case-by-case basis, because sometimes we will be going too far into the generic category and sometimes it will be satisfactory to address a question.


So I am not sure that a generic ruling by you now would be all that helpful.  It may, in fact, interfere with a case‑by‑case analysis later.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Good point, Mr. Ryder, and we will hear the specific submissions on the contested issues.  I understand that some of those issues are issues that are at the request of the City of Kitchener.


Any other comments?


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, just in terms of your discussion with Board counsel, I would estimate that issues 2 and ‑‑ 1 and 2 on the proposed draft list of issues outside of the rate case, as included in appendix B, might also be issues in addition to issue 5, which we have identified already, that might fall within the context of that overlap.


Further to Mr. Ryder's submission, we are certainly prepared to proceed, but anything that would enhance the efficiency of where best these resources would be welcome.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  That's helpful, Ms. DeMarco.  Any other submissions on the issues list overall before we hear submissions on the contested issues?


All right, we will go to the first contested issue.  That I believe is issue 3.1.6; is that correct?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair, but that is Mr. Adams' issue.


MS. NOWINA:  That is Mr. Adams issue.


MR. MILLAR:  That is the one we were going to put off.


MS. NOWINA:  That is the one we were putting off, thank you.  We will move over to cost of capital, issue 4.4, then.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's our issue, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis.


PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 4.4 BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  We're the proponents of the issue.

     The issue has to do with the Supreme Court of Canada's decision in the City of Calgary and ATCO Gas & Pipelines Limited.  In that case, the Supreme Court held that once the Alberta Energy Utilities Board had determined that a utility asset no longer ‑‑ was no longer used and useful and therefore could be removed from rate base, it had no jurisdiction to allocate the proceeds of the sale of that asset.  


In our view, if this decision is found to be applicable in Ontario, it would change the way in which sales of utility assets have been treated in Ontario.  Currently, the OEB determines, on a case-by-case basis, what proportion of the sales is to be to the account of the shareholder and what proportion to the account of the ratepayers.  Indeed, in the ATCO decision itself, there

are a number of decisions from the Ontario Energy Board that are cited, in which precisely that has happened, in which the proceeds of sale have been allocated 50‑50 to shareholders and to ratepayers.


The current formula for determining ROE is set using a number of assumptions, one of which is the existing method of determining the split in capital gains on the sale of assets.


Under the ATCO decision ‑‑ again, if this decision is found to be applicable in Ontario, which we don't have a determination yet, but under that decision, 100 percent of all profit on sales of assets must be given to the shareholder, regardless of what the Board thinks is fair and equitable.


Therefore, the effect is to increase the overall profit of the shareholder from their investment in the utility without any requirement to increase the investment.


If the old ROE is correct, then a new level of profit to shareholder achieved would be too high and must be reduced.  So all we're asking is that when the Board considers when the ‑‑ whether the ATCO decision is applicable in Ontario, that there should also be consideration given to whether or not the ROE formula should be reduced, because, in our view, if the Board answers the first question in the affirmative, being that ATCO does apply in Ontario, then it will change the regulatory compact in our jurisdiction and the ROE figure as a result of that compact, and if we're changing that, then we should also consider whether we should be changing the ROE determination.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis, is there a question of the determination of capital gains in this proceeding?  Is there any specific instance that we're dealing with in this rate proceeding?


MR. SMITH:  No, there is not.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That, I suppose, would be a corollary of our issue that we would consider.  Those are the kinds of questions we would need to ask, in terms of, from an evidentiary perspective, to determining what capital gains would be in a given year, and that would go into how ‑‑ what impact the ATCO decision would have on the ROE.


So, yes, it is not currently, but that would be something that we would envision, if this becomes an issue, we would need some kind of evidentiary basis for.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. DeVELLIS:  There is also a related proceeding that was adjourned in 2005.  That's the '02 ‑‑ 2005-0211 proceeding involving Union Gas.  That had to do with the sale of cushion gas.  And there is an issue on our issues list that is related to that, and that is ‑‑


MR. SMITH:  I believe it is 7.3.


MR. DeVELLIS:  7.3, thank you.  Is the process used by ‑‑ sorry, 7.2.  Could the sale of cushion gas cause Union to incur increased capital expenditures and/or costs in 2007, and, if so, are the capital expenditures and/or costs caused by the 2004 cushion gas sale appropriately included in 2007 rates?


Well, in order to answer that question, we would necessarily get into whether or not it was prudent to sell the cushion gas in 2004, and so that is one issue where we would probably need a determination from the Board whether or not that was prudent, and, if so, how should we allocate it?  Well, not how should it be allocated, but, in our view, it would be administratively efficient to deal with all of those issues at once, and once then we have done that, to also address the question of ROE.


MS. NOWINA:  Those are your submissions?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else want to make a submission supporting Mr. DeVellis's –


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. JACKSON:


MR. JACKSON:  Yes.  Malcolm Jackson for LIEN.  It is my understanding that even though gains may not have been forecast, that they may indeed occur, from an accounting point of view, and that the Board needs to know how the company would treat such gains and whether or not they would be considered to contribute to the return that has been earned, because the Board measures these things both for earnings sharing in the past, in the case of Union, and, in my submission, it should measure these things so that it knows how well it is regulating, whether indeed the outcomes are essentially what were forecast or within tolerable limits of that.     

Now, that is one good reason for addressing this issue.  I think it also should be noted that in the normal course of events, my understanding is that the gains and losses go to adjust the depreciation reserve.  And that it is -- if utilities followed that normal retirement or normal sale process, that that is where it would go and, hence, all of the benefit would flow to the ratepayers on a normal basis.     

I say that because it would adjust rate base and when rates are determined, it would give rise to the dollar level of return that would need to be recovered in rates.     So the whole idea of a gain that is beyond a gain that goes to an adjustment of the reserve is something fairly special, and I guess it most likely occurs when essentially the depreciation class is about to vanish, because of the sale.  Then you say, well, where can we put the adjustment if the depreciation class is gone and there is no accumulated depreciation left to put it against?     

And that seems to have been the case in the sale referred to in the ATCO decision and it certainly would be the case in the sale of assets or transfer of as set out of the utility into a non-utility entity in the case of storage assets.     

So those are my observations and I think it is a very important point that ought to be left on the list.  If you decide that it should later better be handled in the generic proceeding, then you could limit the extent to which we go into it in this proceeding, but it seems to me it is very much on target for this proceeding.     

MS. NOWINA:  Is there a generic proceeding where you think it might be appropriately placed?     

MR. JACKSON:  Just as to the storage assets, Madam Chair.     

MS. NOWINA:  The storage assets in the NGEIR proceeding?     

MR. JACKSON:  Yes.      

MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else have submissions supporting Mr. DeVellis's position?     

Mr. Smith?     

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  You will have a, I believe a package of materials that I gave to Board Staff and the Board entitled "Union Gas issues day materials".     

MS. NOWINA:  We do.     

MR. SMITH:  The issue, as --     

MR. DeVELLIS:  Pardon me, I don't have a copy.     

MR. SMITH:  They were at the back.     

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar should we mark those as an exhibit.     

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think so.  Madam Chair, we're going to try a new identification just to make sure it is clear this is from the issues day, so we're proposing we give this exhibit number ID-1, for issues day.     

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.     

EXHIBIT NO. ID-1:  UNION GAS ISSUES DAY MATERIAL     

MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Smith.     

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:  

MR. SMITH:  As the -- let me start just by way of background.  There is a separate proceeding which deals with the sale in 2004 by Union of cushion gas.  Contrary to Mr. Jackson's submission, in fact, that is not a depreciable asset, it is a non-depreciable assets.  So his comments regarding depreciation would not be applicable.  There is a separate proceeding to deal with that.  That proceeding was adjourned but it is as a markedly different stage than this proceeding, and in fact was ready to go -- was adjourned, but is otherwise in the can, as it were.  So the Board is aware of that.     

There is an issue 7.2, as was identified, that deals with whether or not there are any cost consequences from that and should those be included in 2007 rates.  Union's prepared, as I indicated before, are contents with that issue Mr. DeVellis's issue is a different matter.  The ROE, as utility ROE as the Board will be aware, is determined by guidelines set by the Board.     

In 2004, the Board, I guess it was by application commenced in 2002, RP-2002-0158 -- concerned an application by Union and by Enbridge to review the guidelines published by the Board for establishing ROE.  In the result, the Board determined that there was no need to revise these guidelines, nor is Union proposing such a revision in this case.  The Board's decision on this matter is set out at tab 4 of my materials.     

As set out at paragraph 114 which is the second paragraph behind tab 4, there are really two reasons and only two reasons to review the formula.  The first is a significant change in market conditions and the second is a significant change in utility risk.     

Neither involves the issue of the gain on the sale of a non-depreciable asset.  Indeed, in Union's case, at least, I can tell you that there is not a single recorded case by this board where the sale of a non-depreciable asset has ever been considered in the setting of utility ROE.  And from that perspective, if you take the two situations when it might be appropriate to change utility ROE, what we are talking about here is pure status quo.     

In fact the only decision I am aware of is at tab 5, which is an older decision dealing with Northern and Central Gas Corporation, where it specifically found that the sale, as the Supreme Court of Canada decided, that the sale of a non-depreciable asset was for the gain of the shareholder.  So from that perspective the Supreme Court of Canada, from Union's perspective, in the setting of its ROE is not a change.  In fact, it is just status quo, business as usual.     

So in my submission, there is no reason why the ATCO decision would have any impact on utility ROE.  It is not an appropriate issue for this proceeding.  I suppose if my friends felt differently, they could bring an application to review the guidelines, but as I advised the Board reviewed this matters as recently as the RP-2002-0158 case, felt there was no need to do anything else.  In fact that decision was rendered in January of 2004.     

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.     

MR. SMITH:  I should also point out.  The sale, as the paucity of authority on this point, evidences the sale of non-utility assets is an extraordinary event that happens infrequently, and from that perspective I think it belies belief that the impact could actually have any impact on utility ROE in any event.     

MS. NOWINA:  The Board Staff have any questions for either party?     

MR. MILLAR:  No.  We have nothing to add, Madam Chair. Madam Chair, save for one thing.  I would like to confirm, Mr. Smith did indicate that there is the 2004 cushion gas issue.     

We see it repeated at 7.2.  I think it was Mr. DeVellis who pointed this out.  We're fine with 7.2 as it is written.  But just for, just so it is entirely clear, there is the -- well, 2005 proceeding actually, I believe, and that is going to be revived.  So the issue of the 2004 sale of the cushion gas is in a separate proceeding.     

FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. JACKSON:
MR. JACKSON:  Madam Chair, Malcolm Jackson here.  There were two new points raised by Mr. Smith.  I wonder if I could comment, very briefly, on the new points.     

One, he did mention just before closing his remarks, about sale of non-utility assets.  The issue, Madam Chair, here is with respect to sale of utility assets, as I see it.  I don't think anybody is concerned about the sale of non-utility assets.     


The other thing is, he did draw a distinction between depreciable property and non‑depreciable property, and I guess, indeed, one can go into the more refined arguments, but it still goes to the question, okay, indeed with depreciable property there will be a recapture and a gain if it is indeed sold for fair market value greater than original cost.  But it still goes to the question of:  To whom should the gain go, even if the depreciation is zero because it is a non‑depreciable asset?


The last thing I would like to just comment on, I am dealing from memory on this one, but the ROE guidelines that I recall did not, to my recollection, talk about how the Board should measure the achieved ROE after the fact.


It dealt with:  How should the target ROE, for a rate case, be determined?  And in that case, if indeed gains are forecast to be zero, they would have no effect at all in determining the ROE to be achieved through the setting of utility rates for its services.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Smith, do you want to respond to that?


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:


MR. SMITH:  Well, I would like to respond, Madam Chair. Thank you.  I would also say, just getting back to my initial submissions on today's procedure, for fear of descending into something of a game of ping-pong, I do think it would be better if parties put all of their arguments on the table.  We will respond to them and the Board can then render a decision.


But responding to Mr. Jackson's comments, ultimately, as I understand his submissions, they all come down to the actual sale, in 2004, of the cushion gas and not the particular cost consequences in 2007, which in any event is on the issues list.  But if we want to get at the allocation of the gain on the sale of the cushion gas, which nobody is disputing is a non‑depreciable asset, so, again, the comments about depreciation are purely hypothetical about another asset that hasn't been sold, for example.


But there is a proceeding already that the Board has which deals with the gain on the sale of the cushion gas in 2004.  So I don't think it is appropriate for this Board to be entertaining that as an issue, and nor should the parties be making submissions or leading evidence on it.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, may I have a brief reply to Mr. Smith?


MS. NOWINA:  No, Mr. DeVellis.  We really are going to get into a game of ping-pong here.  If somebody would like to recommend a different order of proceeding than we have identified, I would take submissions on that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, my only concern is this is the first time I've seen Mr. Smith's book of authorities and I hadn't included, in my initial submissions reply to that.


Mr. Smith did raise an additional point that I would just like to briefly reply to, if I may.


MR. SMITH:  By definition, all of my points will be additional, because they're in response.  That's the only point I would make on that.


MS. NOWINA:  There are a number of ways we can handle this.  I'm going to ask Mr. Millar for his comments, because this is just the first contested issue and we are going to go on to others, and I can see us getting into this discussion.  We can continue with the way that Mr. Smith has suggested proceeding.  We can take a different tact and have the proponent of the issue speak first, Mr. Smith respond, and then have the proponent have last word.  That's another way to do it, or we can do a four‑way, and then allow Mr. Smith to go again.  It gets a bit much.


So any suggestions on what we might do?


MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, in IGUA's submission, the procedure that seems to be adopted this morning is that those that raise the contested issue should go first and put forth their argument.  Union then gets to respond.


In the normal course, those that go first would have a right of reply to try and address issues that perhaps they did not foresee in terms of what we have just seen happen with Mr. Smith's initial reply ‑‑ or initial response followed by reply.


I would suggest that that would be the appropriate way.  The appropriate process would be the person raising the issue puts forth their submissions, Union responds, and then those that raise the issue may have a short reply to address those issues.


I would suggest that that is the fair approach.  In the normal course, it would be Union that goes first, because they are -‑ it's their issue and they would have the right of reply.


Today, the tables are turned to a certain extent, so I think what is good for the goose is good for the gander.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, do you have any comments?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  The final determination, of course, is up to the Board.  You have control over your proceedings.


However, I tend to agree with Mr. DeRose.  It would be, in following with the Board's normal practice on hearing submissions on an issue, that the proponent goes first, followed by a response from the other parties, and then there would be a right of reply only on issues that were raised in the other party's submissions that weren't or couldn't be anticipated by the original submission.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, if I could just join in for a couple of minutes.  In fairness to Union, they may wish to have those in favour of the proponent's contested issue speak before they have to reply.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  That's exactly what I was going to suggest, Ms. DeMarco.


So what we will do is that the proponent will go first, any parties that support the position of the proponent, and then the applicants may respond.  Then the proponent will have the last response, but only the proponent, not other parties who have made submissions.  


All right, given that, Mr. DeVellis, you were the proponent and I will give you last word at this point.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  After such a big lead-up, now I feel a lot of pressure.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Smith directed you to the Board's decision in 0158 and the two conditions that must be satisfied before the ROE` guidelines change ‑‑ review the form of ROE.  I submit that both of them apply in this instance.  The two are -- the justification would be significant changes in market conditions and the second is the changes in utility risk.


In Mr. Justice Binnie's dissenting opinion in ATCO, he points to three decisions, reported decisions, of the Ontario Energy Board, where the proceeds of sale are -- capital gains on utility assets were shared 50‑50 between ratepayers and shareholders.  Those cases are re Consumers Gas 1986, EBR-0341; re Consumers Gas, 1991-EBR-0465; and re Natural Resources Limited, RP-2002‑0147.


Certainly from the market's perspective, the expectation was that sale of capital gains would likely -- or capital gains would likely be shared, in some fashion, between ratepayers and the shareholder.


If ATCO is found to be applicable in Ontario, that is changed, so market conditions change.  In addition, the utilities risk will have changed, because now they would be earning -- they have an opportunity to earn capital gains that in the past they hadn't -- in the past that they had been shared with ratepayers and now they're not going to be.  


So utilities' risk in our view has changed, so both of those conditions in our view have been satisfied and warrant the consideration by this Board as to whether we should consider changing the formula of setting ROE.  Thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis, a question for you.  You frame your concern about the ROE as if the ATCO decision should be determined to be ‑‑ to apply in Ontario.


The implication I draw from that is that if we hear this question, that determination has to be made before we can decide whether or not the ROE ‑‑


MR. DeVELLIS:  Absolutely, yes.  That is why I mentioned earlier the issue of the cushion gas proceeding, because that decision will have to be made in that proceeding, as well, although we weren't asked for submissions on this, but in our view it would be administratively efficient to deal with both proceedings at once.


Mr. Smith mentioned that the cushion gas proceeding was farther along.  In fact, as I recall, there was no oral evidence heard.  We convened on the day the oral evidence was to be heard.  There was a motion to adjourn the proceeding in view of the pending ATCO decision and that is what occurred.  There was pre-filed evidence and interrogatories, but no oral evidence heard by the panel.  


So there would be no reason why this panel, in our view, could not take over the evidentiary phase of that proceeding and make a determination in that proceeding whether ATCO applies, and then go on to consider whether the ROE issue -- the ROE issue.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Let's go on to the next contested issue, then.  That is issue 5.6.

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  I think that is an issue by the City of Kitchener.     

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ryder, go ahead.     

PRESENTATION IF ISSUE 5.6 BY MR. RYDER:  

MR. RYDER:  Can I ask you to look at tab 7 of exhibit 1 for today, 16 pages in.  That should take you to Exhibit J5.61 of RP-2003-0063.     

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Ryder.  If you could just tell me, am I right that it is page 19 of 35 in the upper right-hand corner?     

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  19 of 35.     

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.     

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  We have it, Mr. Ryder.     

MR. RYDER:  Now you can see what this interrogatory does, it shows the three components and uses of system integrity storage space.     

We say that there is an anomaly in the cost allocation of the first two:  That which manages weather variances for a non-daily metered customers, and the second one, the backstop supply failures.     

We say that these costs are allocated to contract customers.  Notwithstanding the fact that contract customers are responsible for their own load balancing and backstopping services.     

Now, I know that the first category says this is for non-daily metered customers, but I am not sure from the record so far, that some of that cost is not allocated to contract customers as well.     

Now, I think in normal circumstances even though the responsibility -- in normal circumstances these costs are 

-– the anomaly rests on the fact that contract customers are responsible for managing their weather variances and for backstop failures.  But Union also assumes responsibility.     

So in those circumstances where Union steps in, and uses this space, it charges the customers on the basis of overrun.     

So there could be an element of double dipping, where Union receives recovery for these costs in our rates and then, in addition, receives revenues from the overrun charges.     

In any event, I say that the area is muddy here as to the allocation of these costs to contract customers who shouldn't get any of it.  So that is why I suggested it is an appropriate issue for this case and it is an issue which has never been resolved in any prior decision.     

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.  

Any parties supporting Mr. Ryder's position?     

Mr. Smith.   

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:    

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.     

I will be making a similar point when it comes to risk management and I would like to, by way of initial comment, observe the purpose as Union understands it behind the issues list is for a focussed proceeding, without undue repetition of issues which have been fully canvassed in the past.     

This is just such an issue.  The issue of system integrity costs was dealt with in the RP-1999-0017 case.  It was also dealt with, as Mr. Ryder assisted me in pointing out, in the 2003-0063 proceeding.  In fact, as I understand it in the RP-1999-0017 unbundling proceeding, Union received at least 15 interrogatories on the allocation of system integrity space on the cost allocation of system integrity space.     

Ultimately, that issue was settled and the Board resolved -- and the Board approved this settlement.  Again, in the 2002-0130 case, this issue was settled.  Then, in the RP-2003-0063 proceeding, Union filed evidence.  Its witnesses were cross-examined.  It answered at least eight interrogatories on this issue.  And parties made argument, including the City of Kitchener, on the cost allocation of system integrity space.     

I have included, behind tab 7, the bundle of interrogatories that Union answered on this issue.  And if you look at the first interrogatory, it is from Board Staff -- I just draw your attention to this one, just because if simply highlights how clearly the issue of system integrity costs and the allocation of those costs was dealt with.  So if you look at the question --it follows almost identically the issue proposed by Kitchener:  


“Please describe the recovery through rates of 


the fully allocated costs and provide the factors 

Union relies on to classify functional eyes and 


allocate these costs and the charge determinants 


applied by Union.”   

Then there was an answer.  I don't propose to read it in its entirety.     

But the question, the point here is the question, put by the Board is almost identical to the issue raised by Kitchener as proposed issue 5.6:  “Is the methodology used to functionalize classify and allocate system integrity space appropriate?”     

Now, the Board did render a decision on this in 

RP-2003-0063 and that decision is at tab 6.  If I could draw your attention to the second page, it is page 133 of the Board's decision.  It begins with Union's position.  

Union submitted that the issue raised by intervenors was also raised in RP-1999-0017.     

“Union observed in that case that the Board found that the system integrity is required to manage weather-related variance for customers regardless of whether they take bundled or unbundled service,” and it goes on.     

The Board then rendered its decision on the page over.  

“The Board confirms its approval first given in RP-1999-0017 with respect to the costs associated with Union's system integrity practice.  In the Board's view, the allocation of they costs to customer classes whose consumption is more directly related to weather variation is appropriate.”     

In my submission, there is nothing which has been filed by Union which is different than it did to allocate these costs in the 0063 proceeding, nor is it different than the 0017 proceeding.  So in my submission, there is no need for the Board to revisit this issue which has now been determined, which has at least formed part of three separate prior proceedings.  Union's cost-allocation methodology is identical with respect to this issue and there is no need to revisit it.     

If I can just take one moment.  I didn't bring all of the interrogatories.  I only filed in my materials the interrogatories which were dealt with in the 0063 proceeding, but Mr. Packer draws to my attention that the precise manner in which Mr. Ryder raised this issue was actually the subject of a Board Staff interrogatory, Exhibit C1.166, identified as issue 3.11 in the RP-1999‑0017 case.  the specific question was:   

"Please give the specific methodological details explaining how system integrity capacity costs have been 'allocated' to rate classes in a manner consistent with the allocation of costs in EBR-0499.  Please explain why, if the capacity will be needed to provide service to all bundled, unbundled and ex‑franchise customers, line 18 on BT‑4S4 indicates the majority has been allocated to small in‑franchise and to customers."


Then the answer proceeds to go through all of the way in which these costs are allocated in the southern operations area in which Kitchener is domiciled, as well as the northern and eastern operations area.  


If it would be of assistance to the Board, I can certainly provide the Board and all parties with a copy of that interrogatory.  It simply confirms my point earlier that this has been the subject of considerable debate dating back at least seven years now with repeated decisions in favour of Union's cost‑allocation methodology on this point.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  You don't need to provide it.  We can find it and you have read it into the transcript.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Are there any parties who support Union's position on this topic?  Mr. Ryder?


MR. RYDER:  Yes, thank you.  Well, almost all issues on the list have been dealt with in one or more previous cases.


The reason for this is that it often takes more than one case to draw out and isolate particular anomalies in the cost allocation study.  For example, the DCC was ‑‑ the elimination of the delivery credit was an example where it took two or three cases to get to the bottom of the issue.  


The fact is that here contract customers, I say, are allocated costs for two components of system integrity costs that shouldn't be allocated to them.  It's never been sanctioned by any Board decision.  I am not sure that Union has acknowledged that these elements have been allocated to contract customers.  So I think it is an issue that remains to be determined.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.  Mr. Millar, do you have any questions?


MR. MILLAR:  Nothing to add, Madam Chair.


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  I have a question, Mr. Ryder, and perhaps this is -- everyone else understands the background of this; it is obvious to them.  The City of Kitchener has a particular concern regarding this issue because of the makeup of its customers? 


MR. RYDER:  The City of Kitchener has residential customers that have been served.  Therefore, it has late season weather balancing to do.  It also, I suppose, has a backstop supply failure concern, as all contract customers do under T service.


So I say for all T service, T1 and T3, those customers, they are being allocated for the contingency space which Union has for itself when those T1 and T3 customers have a duty to meet those supply failures themselves.


So what it appears to be, as I'm looking into the evidence in preparation of this case, it appears to be that it is a shared responsibility.  Union comes in on occasion and charges us a specific rate for that, so we are getting double dipped.  So I think the whole area needs to be enquired into.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.  We will move on to issue 5.7.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm a proponent to that issue, as well, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. DeVellis.


PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 5.7 BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  With respect to this, issue we would like to point out firstly that it is not our intent to review the cost allocation methodology, per se.  However, we only have questions about how the model is applied and resulting allocation, and that is the reason that we propose to have it on the issues list.


As with other issues on the issues list that have sort of a broader application, we believe we should have one under the cost allocation issue, as well, as opposed to the more specific issues that are already on the list.


For example, under O&M we have issue 3.3, which refers to the overall level of O&M.  This, in effect, is the catch‑all issue meant to cover issues not addressed in the specific issues listed below it, and under cost allocation, our intent is to, as I said, just be able to examine the resulting allocations from the application of the model, and that's why we would like it on the list.  Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone supporting Mr. DeVellis's position?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RYDER:

MR. RYDER:  Yes, I would like to support it, if I may, with this observation, that the 2007 rates case is a -- rates will be a base year for the next number of years.  There has been no enquiry into the cost allocation study for two years, so I just think that given those facts, the Board should defer to a greater -- giving a greater scope to this enquiry on cost allocation rather than limiting it.


I submit that traditionally cost allocation as a whole has always been open for enquiry in a rate case, and now, particularly, is not the time to force a limited scope onto it, especially before the IR process, because I say it's too early at this stage to curtail all enquiries.  There may be some useful information resulting from the IR process.


So I suggest that you shouldn't, at this stage, require intervenors to identify every specific anomaly in the cost allocation approach of Union before we've had our IRs.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Anyone else?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. JACKSON:

MR. JACKSON:  Yes, Madam Chair.  LIEN would also support the inclusion of this issue.  It might be helpful to you, when you are deliberating, to just identify what appear to be the very general issues set out under the other various headings, but under number 1, it's 1.3, I believe:  Is the amount proposed for rate base in 2007 appropriate?


Under number 2, I think it is probably 2.1.  I would tell you that at the issues conference we did discuss whether the general service demand forecast would include more than just a forecast of volumes of service, whether it would also include the revenue, and the company agreed that it would also include the revenue.


So I think that is the general question that covers all of operating revenue.  Under cost of service, I believe Mr. Ryder identified a general question, 3.3.  Under cost of capital, it seems to me that the first question is all-inclusive.  It says: Should we use the Board's guidelines?  But it implies that if the answer to that were "no", that you've got to, then, say or address:  What would you use?  


So I say 4.1 is a general question.  Under 5, perhaps over the last 24 hours, or indeed maybe even over the last few hours, I am getting more suspicious, but the heading is cost allocation.  I would have thought now that maybe the question better phrased:   Is the cost allocation appropriate?  It is referred to as a study in the evidence under G3 and I am not, this morning, exactly sure what the word "model" might mean. 


I think that it was meant to be very broad and it was meant to be more along the lines of, is the cost allocation appropriate?  I endorse the comments of Mr. Ryder about the fact that the outcome of this decision may, in fact, form the basis for rates for a number of years into the future, and that a general question is important under this heading as well.     

Just lastly, when I was giving you references under 6, rate design, under 6.1 is the general question there.  

Thank you, Madam Chair.     

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Jackson.  

Mr. De Rose.     

MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, IGUA is not going to take a position on this issue, but I would like to raise a matter of concern and it is this.  I see, from the Union Gas's issue-day materials, I anticipate that Mr. Smith's argument is going to be that a board in a previous decision has looked at the cost-allocation methodology and, as such, it shouldn't be an issue in this case.     

That line of argument which we have now heard for two issues does raise some concerns for us, and it is for the following reasons.  First, as you would be aware, stare decisis does not apply in this context.  You are not bound by the previous decisions of your brother or sister Board members and that you have the jurisdiction and ability that is completely and utterly in contradiction to a previous case.  In normal course, that would be highly unusual, but you do have that ability.     

IGUA's concerned, if the Board accepts a line of argument that will have the result of prohibiting scrutiny on an issue because it had been dealt with in a previous case.  In our submission, that would be a departure from the Board's historic approach to issues and issue lists, and it would also have, in our submission, a certain danger attached to it.  The danger is this:  In most issues and we it from this issues list.  They're broad and they're very technical.  To borrow a phrase from Mr. Warren, there's normally an asymmetry of information.  Stakeholders do not have access to the same level of information and expertise and technical advice that the utilities have.     

So in many instances an issue will be raised in one rate case, and interrogatories will be asked, and it is a little like looking for a needle in a hay stack.  By the end of the case, you will get incrementally closer or a better understanding, but it may not be a full understanding.  The Board may make a decision on that issue.  But in the following case or the following two or three or four cases, in many cases we have seen -- and Mr. Ryder gave an example of the DCC, although IGUA, of course, is opposed to the abolishment of the DCC, it did happen.  It took a number of cases.     

In our submission, this is appropriate.  I am not taking a position on this particular case or sorry on this particular issue, but I am concerned with Mr. Smith's line of argument that because it's been dealt with previously, don't deal with it again.  I would submit that that is something that this Board should be very cautious in undertaking for those reasons.     

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. De Rose.  

Anyone else?  Ms. DeMarco.     

SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I just have one thing to add to Mr. De Rose's submission, and again, my clients will be taking no position on this.  But in regard to Mr. De Rose's points regarding stare decisis, I think it’s noteworthy that currently the energy context, both electricity and natural gas, is volatile and fluctuating  and often requires a fresh examination of historical issues.  As a result, it might be appropriate to re-examine certain issues based on the changing nature of the two sectors.  Those are our submissions.     

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Smith.     

MR. SCULLY:  Madam Chairman, I would like to endorse Mr. DeRose's position on this, as a general matter, and particularly his observation.  Sometimes we're not armed with enough technical help or depth of research to really get an issue in focus.     

But one of the issues, as I understand it, that's come through in the cost allocation is a split of a system into two sections:  The north and the east and the south as a sort of preliminary step in the whole cost-allocation process.  And my client's position has been that perhaps that's not the correct way to go and you should mesh the whole system together.     

I don't know that we are going to be able to have a good run at this in this hearing, but the presence of a general issue of that nature is important to us when we think of trying to do something like that.  Thank you.     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Scully.     

Mr. Smith.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:     

MR. SMITH:  It's remarkable how no position often sounds contrary to what I am going to say, but in fact it is not Union's position that this is a matter which has been decided and so we need not look at it.  That is the position with respect to system integrity and risk management, to tip my hand on that for Mr. Jackson's benefit, but those are matters that have been dealt with at least three or four times in rapid succession in the recent past.     

The concern with the cost allocation question -- and just pausing on the issue -- the way the issue is raised now, it says:  Is the cost-allocation model and resulting allocated costs appropriate?     

The word "model," Madam Chair, should be "methodology," because what is at issue here is the methodology to classify, functionalize and allocate costs    and Union's concern with that issue, as phrased, is this:  The purpose of an issues list is to focus the parties, who have now had a considerable amount of time to review Union's evidence, to focus the parties on the matters which are actually in dispute in the proceeding.  The parties have had an opportunity to review the evidence, to consider what issues specifically they want to raise with Union, put that issue forward, and we can deal with it on a discrete, concrete basis.     

The question with cost allocation and why cost allocation is different than the other matters which my friends referred to as general questions is this:  The questions that they drew to your attention are all matters where there is actually a change between the 2003-0063 case or the way Union's been doing things and this proceeding.     So I can understand my friends wanting to ask general questions about:   How is it different?  What's the impact?  There is nothing different about what's happening with cost allocation.     

If people have specific questions about cost allocation, though, of course those issues should be put forward and they can be dealt with just as issues 5.1 through 5.5 have been particularized.     

With respect to Mr. Scully's comments, in particular regarding the split between the north and the south, that in fact is on the issues list.  That was a direction in response to submissions put forward by Mr. Scully in the last rates case.  There was a direction from this Board, from this Board for Union to come forward and try to harmonize the north and the south as much as it could explain what it could and couldn't do, and there is specific evidence on that issue.     

So if there are other issues, as I said last week, I invite people to bring them forward and put them on the list.  But a free-ranging allocation -- free-ranging examination of the cost-allocation methodology, in my submission, would not serve the efficient regulatory process at all, and it would invite this Board, potentially, into lengthy delay, which is completely unnecessary if parties focus their questions upfront.     

Mr. De Rose is quite correct, I did put in, behind tab 9 -- sorry, behind tab 8 the Board's comments where, in my submission, the Board dealt with this issue precisely as it should in this case.     

It commented ‑‑ there hadn't been an integrated cost study filed by Union in some time.  As Mr. Ryder commented, there hadn't been one filed in ‑‑ sorry, since 1998.  It was filed in 1998.  The outcomes are generally consistent with approaches approved by the Board in prior rate cases.  In most cases, the allocations mandated by the integrated study were not significantly different from previous allocations. 


That is precisely the case today two years later.  Then the Board went on to consider all of the specific issues raised with respect to cost allocation.


In my submission, that is what the Board should do in this case, deal with specific issues.  Those are enumerated in 5.1 to 5.5, have a focussed hearing.  A general question where there has been no change, unlike the examples provided by my friends, is not appropriate.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. DeVellis.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Just two brief comments, Madam Chair.  The first is we have no problem with deleting reference to the model from the issue as currently worded.  As I mentioned, it is not our intent to review the model, but only how the model is applied and the resulting cost allocation.


Secondly, we don't believe that including this issue on the list will result in protracted examinations or extend the hearing unduly.  We may have -- for example, if we had five or ten IRs on this issue, it doesn't mean that we should have five additional issues on the issues list.  If we proceed in that fashion, that would prolong the hearing.  


We just want to be able to explore issues that may arise as we go through the model.  So those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have any questions?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.


[The Board confers]


QUESTION FROM THE BOARD:


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis, I would like to explore that a little with you, since you've said we don't need to use the word "model".  What would you suggest as a rephrasing then?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm just discussing the matter with Mr. Smith.  I think if we substituted the word "methodology" for "model", that would probably satisfy us.


MS. NOWINA:  My second question is that you mentioned in both of your submissions it is not your intent to review the model or now what is called the methodology, but, rather, how it is applied.


I think that is quite a distinction, going back and looking at the methodology itself and whether or not it is the appropriate methodology -- and we do use the word "appropriate" here -- and whether or not it is applied correctly or fairly.  


Is there a rewording of the issue that might capture that concept, that we're not reviewing the appropriateness of the methodology, but, rather, its specific application in this case?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I hadn't addressed my mind to that.  Perhaps I can do that over the break.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe I can ask you to consider that over break, and we will come back ‑‑ if we have a rewording of it, maybe we will come back and see if there are further submissions on that rewording of the issue


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I think at that we will break now.  We will break for half an hour, because there are a number of items we want to consider and that you want to, as well, and we will return at eleven o'clock.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.
     --- Upon resuming at 11:00 a.m.

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:
     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

Ms. DeMarco, we have considered your questions and we are prepared to give you what guidance we can at this point.
     If we refer to the proposed list of issues outside of the rate case.  Your questions were regarding issue 1, issue 2 and issue 5.  Speaking to issue 1 and issue 2, the two issues that we indicate will be addressed in the NGEIR proceeding, the N-G-E-I-R proceeding, in that case, in the NGEIR proceeding we expect them to look at policy matters.  We would expect, in this case, that intervenors may still want to look at items of prudence or quantification.  So if there are questions regarding that, we would expect to hear them in this case.
     With respect to the DSM issues, issue number 5, that is slightly different.  With DSM, what we plan to do is that we will not hear any issues related to DSM in this portion of this proceeding.  After the generic DSM decisions are issued, we will find some procedural way, either as a second phase to this or a second phase to the DSM proceeding, but in any case, you will get a new set of procedural orders on how to deal with the specifics of the DSM plan for Union.
     Are there any questions regarding that?
     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair, that is very helpful.
     MS. NOWINA:  You're welcome.  

The issue I ask you to discuss was the schedule issue by Mr. DeVellis.  Are there any thoughts on the schedule change that is contemplated?
     MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, I have been on the phone.  I can say both on behalf of IGUA and on behalf of the Council, Mr. Warren's client, we are in the process of retaining an expert.  Our expert actually raised similar concerns and our initial intention was to try to make best efforts to try and have our evidence in on time, and if it was impossible, to deal with it then.  But given that Mr. DeVellis has now raised the issue, from our perspective, the proposed extension or -- it's not really an extension.  The proposed extension of time for the filing of the evidence, without extending the ultimate date with respect to the commencement of the hearing, et cetera, would assist us.
     So given that it will assist us, our position is, it is reasonable.  And we would ask for a similar indulgence.
     MS. NOWINA:  In my understanding of what Mr. DeVellis has proposed, with the remainder of the schedule after April 28th remaining the same, is that the difference in time is made up in the phase when the intervenors are responding to interrogatories.  Is that everyone's understanding?
     MR. SMITH:  Yes.
     MS. NOWINA:  So it is intervenors who would have to take up that slack, if you like, during that period from.
     MR. DeROSE:  From our perspective, Madam Chair, I think one way to look at it would be, rather than attempting to have our experts put under that pressure or that crunch, we are willing to take that pressure or crunch on the interrogatory stage of our evidence, rather than the actual preparation of the evidence itself, given the proximity of obtaining Union's interrogatories, which our experts, we expect, will have to consider.
     Our concern is that three days -- I guess every expert is unique.  But in my experience, sometimes experts won't give you the immediate attention that you would hope that they would.  We believe the extra time will be of assistance to us.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Any other submissions on that matter?
     MR. SMITH:  No.  I have no submissions.   Rearranging of the schedule is perfectly fine from our perspective.
     MS. NOWINA:  We will take it under consideration.  

Mr. Adams.
     MR. ADAMS:  Sorry for my delay in responding.  We support the recommendations of Mr. DeVellis.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.
     MS. NOWINA:  Any other preliminary matters?  

We will go back to issue 5.7 in a moment.
     Mr. DeVellis have you had a chance to consider the rewording of that issue?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Madam Chair, I have suggested alternative wording which I hope satisfies your concerns and it is as follows:   “Is the specific application of the cost-allocation methodology for 2007 and the cost allocation result produced appropriate?”
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Mr. Smith, I will ask you if you have any comments on that.
     MR. SMITH:  I do, Madam Chair.
     Mr. DeVellis was kind enough to share that with me just before we came back.  It strikes me, I hadn't thought it possible, but it strikes me that the issue as he has now framed it is perhaps even broader and what he has done is he has conflated two propositions you had put to him, one being:  Is the cost-allocation methodology itself appropriate?  The second is:  Are the results derived as a result of that methodology appropriate?
     In my submission, that is not the guidance you were looking for.  I have the same concerns certainly with respect to the first half of the question:  Is the 

cost-allocation methodology -- I mean he has phrased it:  Is the specific applications of the cost-allocation methodology appropriate?  That is precisely the issue that is already on the table, and you have my submissions as to why that submission is overly broad.  If there are specific concerns with respect to the cost-allocation methodology, now is the time to bring them forward.
     If it is merely the results themselves that my friend has an issue with or would like to say, in effect, are the results fair?  Has Union made an error in applying the methodology; or I'm sure he's not saying this, but, are they biased in the application of the methodology?  That is one issue.  And subject to just confirming that with my client, it might be acceptable with that, just the results aspect of it.  But the first part I think is precisely the issue that we had the concerns with, concerns with earlier.
     MS. NOWINA:  Let's get the semantics clear, then, because I am not sure that I understood it in the same way.
     Mr. DeVellis, can you read it back to me again?  I didn't write it down.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I will try to go slower this time.
     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  “Is the specific application of the cost-allocation methodology for 2007 and the cost allocation results produced appropriate?”
     MS. NOWINA:  What do you mean by the specific application of the methodology?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, in our view, I think that narrows or is more narrow language in that we are talking about how -- we're not talking about reviewing the model, but rather how the model has been applied for 2007.
     So I think that sufficiently narrows the scope of the issue.  I'm not sure there is anything else I can add.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't want to suggest where your thinking is on this, Mr. DeVellis, but would it be a proper characterization of it that you're looking at where there is room for interpretation of the inputs, that there is the methodology, it's an agreed-to methodology, but somehow inputs, you find that there may be some discretion on how those are captured or –- again, I am just trying to assist.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  That may be one.  The other areas that I think we were discussing, the specific cost allocators, I think.  Again, I don't know that -- how much more of assistance I can be on this point.
     I have tried to narrow the issue as much as I could.
     MR. QUESNELLE:  The point of contention that I am hearing is whether or not we are going to look at the methodology and question the methodology.  Are you still of a mind that if it surfaces, that the results may indicate that we should?  That that is on the table?  Or that basically the methodology is, such as it is described, is acceptable, but we're going to question where there is any discretion, the inputs themselves.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe it is the latter, yes, the results of the methodology, not the methodology per se.


MS. NOWINA:  So the inputs and the outputs of the methodology, if you like, to put it in very simple terms, not the methodology itself?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  And that is your interpretation of the wording that you have given here?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  That is helpful.


I see Mr. Adams is here.


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I just want to understand my friend's position so that I can fully understand what it is that is on the table for the Board to decide.


What the cost‑allocation methodology does, it takes costs, it functionalizes them, classifies them and allocates them.  It takes all of the cost inputs and it produces a result.  


I understood my friend to say that he wasn't interested in the way in which the costs were functionalized, allocated or classified, and then allocated.  He wants to ask:  Is the result fair, to put it that way, or has Union made a mistake?  That is one thing.


But if it is:  Are we looking at specific ‑‑ the allocation of specific costs or inputs, as the Board described them, or outputs, those are actually specific questions that could be asked, and that's why I ‑‑ I know we're perhaps quibbling over the wording, but it is somewhat important on this issue, because of the way in which we looked at the word "appropriate" earlier, to talk about the underlying issues.  


So if we just simply leave it at that, I don't want to be taken to be then agreeing that because I used the word "appropriate" in a particular way, that that would be swept in.


So I really would ask for some precision on what it is that this issue encompasses.  You have my view on it, that it is overly broad, but I really do think it is incumbent on the proponent to specify what it is that they want to have this Board look at.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can I just ask one question?


I think that we're looking at a question here of -‑ it is more than semantics, obviously, but I am trying to separate in my mind how on earth we would look at the outcomes of a methodology.  If we have agreement that the inputs are used properly and in the right context, and we agree to numbers going in, and then we're going to test the appropriateness or the fairness of the result, to do so you have to check ‑‑ you are looking at the methodology.


MR. SMITH:  I don't disagree.  That is why I really think it is incumbent -- because there are specific cost allocation questions, it's incumbent on the proponent to say that:  Here is what I would like to address.  And a good example of that is issue ‑‑ I am just trying to ‑‑‑ it is not specifically under this heading, but it dealt with, in Union's evidence, is the issue of the splitting of the M2 rate class, and there is evidence filed on the appropriateness and the study that was done to reach that conclusion.  I guess it is under rate design, so it is issue 6.2.  But that would be an issue that Mr. DeVellis would have a distinct interest in, because his customers are members ‑‑ his clients are members of the M2 rate class.  


It was an issue of considerable importance in the last rate proceeding.  Mr. Shepherd made very able submissions and argument on the point.  The Board issued a directive, which Union has responded to.  I would have thought, you know, that is precisely the area where we now have a focus.  We have only three weeks set aside for this proceeding.  We have a focussed issue.  We can deal with that.


Cost allocation, I think that those issues can be ‑‑ can be focussed.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis, if you want to add any comments?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I don't think there is anything else I can add, other than my earlier comments that the fact that we may have a number of specific questions I don't think means we should have another ‑‑ an issue for each of them.  It is just a matter of reviewing the outcomes of the methodology and making argument on them.  I don't think that would prolong the proceeding; in fact, the opposite.  Adding an issue for each question would prolong the proceeding, in our view.


MR. RYDER:  Madam Chair, I don't ask to reargue this, but I think Mr. DeVellis has changed ‑‑ his new phrasing given after the break has changed the issue from the one which we supported, and I think other intervenors, which would have allowed us to question the methodology.  So we would like to reassert the originally-phrased contested issue.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So Mr. DeVellis has agreed that he doesn't want to question the methodology, but other intervenors are not of that mind?


MR. RYDER:  Certainly we don't agree with Mr. DeVellis's rephrasing, which takes away the right to question the methodology.


MR. JACKSON:  LIEN is with Kitchener on this.


MR. SCULLY:  Madam Chairman, I know that Union has said our issue was really addressed in issue 5.3, but I want the Board to appreciate that our issue is not whether the allocation methodology for the north looks like the one in the south and has been harmonized with it.  The basic question is:  Should there be separate ones?


So that we're in support of Mr. Ryder and the others who say we need the broader issue on the table.


MS. NOWINA:  My interpretation, Mr. Scully, of number 5.1 is the question you just raised would be covered by 5.1.


MR. SCULLY:  Sorry?


MS. NOWINA:  It is my interpretation of 5.1 is that the way you just phrased your concern, that it would be covered by that issue.


MR. SCULLY:  I just have a concern with the way that Mr. DeVellis has suggested rephrasing it, that it narrows it down to it's not whether the methodology itself is correct, but only the way it is done.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  I think that is enough said on that topic.  I don't think that we are getting further clarification as we go along.


Can we return to or go now to question 4.4, which I believe Mr. Adams was going to ‑‑ sorry.  Was it 3.6.16?  Yes.


PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 3.6.16 BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Madam Chair, we are seeking to have an item added to the issue list, appropriateness of gas cost risk management.


Our reasoning supporting our request starts with the recently issued Enbridge decision.  At paragraph 5.5.13, an element of that paragraph reads as follows:

"The Board considers that where convincing evidence is presented, which leads to a compelling conclusion that a program does not provide value to ratepayers, it is always open to the Board to disallow any further spending on the program, whether or not the issue falls within the four corners of the issues list."


At the Enbridge case, Energy Probe introduced evidence on this question and, in hindsight, we think we came at the Enbridge case a little awkwardly.  It would have been much better and fairer to the proponent if we had specifically identified the item on the issues list.  It would have facilitated the hearing, I think.


So that is what we are seeking to do in this case.  So while, in the Enbridge proceeding, the matter of risk management was dealt with, although there was no specific item that specifically addressed the appropriateness of gas cost risk management, we want to remedy that in this case.


Our intention is really, pursuant to the Board's decision in the Enbridge case, the paragraph 5.5.10 in that decision indicates, in part:

"No evidence has been provided that demonstrates whether the hedging activity had a material effect on the volatility experienced by consumers, given the effects of QRAM, the PGBA and equal billing programs over the same period."


Our intention, if you allow our addition to the issues list, is to pursue this matter initially in interrogatories, and then, pending the production of information from the applicant, to potentially produce evidence that speaks to this specific item.

     Now, I anticipate that the utility might raise for you, in reply, the decision of the Board two years ago in the Board's decision on RP-2003-0063, at which the Board endorsed the approach to risk management at that time based on the evidence that it had before it at that time.
     A couple of observations arise in looking at these two decisions.  One is that notwithstanding the passage of time, there was an overlap in the membership of the panels in both cases.  We noticed that Mr. Sommerville wasn’t a member of both panels.  To us, that suggests that the approach of the Board has undergone some evolution, and that the Enbridge case ought to be determinative in the Board's thinking upon our request.
     Those are my submissions in support of our requested addition.
     MS. NOWINA:  Are there any parties supporting Mr. Adams' position?

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:
     MR. DINGWALL:  Yes, Madam Chair.  CME is also concerned with the amount of expense that is incurred in respect of risk management programs and the fact that that's paid for by all ratepayers.
     I noted that Mr. Adams referred to the Enbridge 

2005-0001 decision, and also that in that case Enbridge was directed to prepare for consideration in its next case evidence which demonstrates the extent to which the company's hedging activities would have resulted in reductions of volatility.
     The Board made that request at paragraph 5.5.11.  At paragraph 5.5.15 of that decision, on the second line, the Board expressed a concern about the fundamental appropriateness of the program.
     To me, that concern, in as it addresses risk management as a utility activity, and concerns about whether it actually does anything, is a generic one in nature, and represents the latest consideration of the Board in response to evidence filed in that case by Mr. Adams, of an issue that affects both gas utilities.
     Accordingly, in order to avoid there being some lag in consideration of the value and appropriateness of risk management, this issue should continue in this case in order that any revisitation of this that might arise from further consideration in the Enbridge case doesn't lag for several years in the regulatory process.
     I am presuming Mr. Adams might call evidence to -- or might pursue evidence that will address some of the concerns that the Board was addressing in the previous decision, and if that is the case and if we proceed on that basis, we will gain a good understanding of what risk management is going to do.  It's been one of the motherhood statements over the past several years, but I think the evidence in the Enbridge case has led to the perception that maybe it does not add everything it's stated to add.  I think that is something that is worth pursuing.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.

SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:
     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, on behalf of Superior Energy Marketing, we also wish to support Mr. Adams in his quest to have this added to the issues list, and would, in lieu of repeating what has been said, would just also like to point the Board to its decision in the Natural Gas Forum which looks at a changing role of a utility, specifically in the sale of gas, and really the appropriateness of some of these features and the benefit to customers resulting from them.
     So on those bases, we would like to definitely support inclusion of the issue in examination of the value associated with utility risk management and its impact on volatility.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  

Anyone else?
     MR. JACKSON:  LIEN supports the inclusion of this issue, but has nothing further to add to what has been said.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Jackson.  

Mr. Smith.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:
     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, this -- let me say this.  This is not, like Mr. De Rose submitted before, an issue where the Board is being asked to consider  something for perhaps the second time.  
     This matter has been dealt with and the specific submissions put forward by Energy Probe and CME has been dealt with now on at least four separate occasions by my count, or three specific to Union.
     Now, I am not certain what evidence was led in the Enbridge case, but it sounds, by the fact that it wasn't on the issues list, that the parties may have been a bit handicapped, but that was certainly not the case with respect to Union's 2003-0063 proceeding, which explored in considerable detail, Union's risk management program, which, I add, is unchanged in this application.  There was expert evidence led by Union on risk management, interrogatories were asked, an argument made.
     In fact, I have attached at tab 2 the written argument on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation, and I believe my friend, Mr. Dingwall, hit the matter squarely on the head in his submission and it is precisely what was suggested by Energy Probe in the 2003-0063 case.
     Paragraph 20 at page 5:  

“Commodity risk management is not an activity that the applicant as a regulated utility should be involved in as it interferes with the operation of the competitive market and utility's role in that market.  In the alternative, the Board allows the applicant to continue commodity risk management.  The Board should order that scope of its risk management activity be narrowed or at least not expanded.”

     And the argument continued for some pages.  That argument was before the Board.  The Board rendered its decision.  The Board said -- first of all, it said two things, which are of note.
     Page 17, it said -- I'm sorry, I'm in tab 1 of my materials.  It is the first tab of exhibit 1.  The Board's decision with reasons RP-2003-0063.  The last paragraph before the issue weather normalization.  

“The Board finds that Union's risk management program does provide value to ratepayers and is therefore appropriate.  The specific changes Union is proposing to implement in the 2004 rate year are reasonable, and provide an opportunity to enhance the value of the program.”

     The Board also noted, at page 16, on the fourth paragraph:   

“While the Board does not accept the arguments raised by CME and Energy Probe that Union's commodity risk management program is without benefit, it does agree that such benefits are difficult to measure.  The Board believes that such issues are better studied in broader policy forums.”

     So I would say this.  First, the issue has been dealt with in the 0063 case in a comprehensive way.  Second, that this issue with respect to Union's risk management program dates back at least as far as EBRO 493/494, and EBRO 

485-02, which are decisions going back to '95 and '97.
     Third, I would say with respect to Mr. Adams's comments regarding the Board's comments in Enbridge dealing with the QRAM and purchased gas variance accounts, those were both matters that – well, in the case of the QRAM Union had a QRAM process at the time of the board's decision in 0063, and everybody was aware of that.  It also had a purchased gas variance account.  So that is not a new issue, with respect.
     Finally, I would say that to the extent the Board is interested in pursuing this issue at all with respect to its risk management program, the Board hit the nail on the head that a broader policy forum might be the best place to consider the issue for Union or Enbridge or both together, the appropriateness of dealing with risk management.  Now, it won't surprise you to know that Union's view is that is not necessary, but at least the Board has expressed a view in the 0063 case.


I should also ‑‑ Mr. Packer and Mr. Goulden point out that that very point was made in the Natural Gas Forum Report dated March 30, 2005.  I have attached pages 68 and 69, and that report can be found under tab 3 of Exhibit 1.


This is not an issue, like discretionary gas sale, that's being asked a second time.  This is an issue that's been considered many, many times, with respect to Union.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Smith, could you point to where this issue is discussed in those two pages, page 68 and page 69 of the Gas Forum Report?


MR. SMITH:  In the Gas Forum Report, specifically at page 68, you will see this is the third paragraph:  

"Some support also existed for a spot price pass‑through to eliminate the utility's risk management activities and to accurately reflect the market price of gas."


So the issue of risk management was actually considered there.  I don't believe that it needs to be revisited.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Smith, to your knowledge ‑‑ or you can confer with your colleagues there ‑‑ did the NGF report anticipate that any of the subsequent NGF proceedings would have risk management as a topic?


MR. SMITH:  I am advised by Mr. Packer, although we don't ‑‑ it is not specifically referenced, my understanding is or Union's understanding is that there will be a process to deal with the pricing of system gas on a going‑forward basis.


MS. NOWINA:  That is where you think it would be dealt with?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Adams did you want to reply?


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ADAMS:


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  In response to Mr. Smith, I think Energy Probe acknowledges that this issue has been before the Board in both the Enbridge and Union cases going back some years.


Our observation of the respective decisions two years ago in the Union case and the Enbridge case suggests that there is an evolution going on in the thinking of the Board, whereas in the Union case two years ago one of the findings was that the Board finds that Union's risk management program does provide value to ratepayers.


In the Enbridge decision, the approach is really very different in the decision; opening up quantitative questions for the utility to respond to on the underlying value proposition.


I think it is fair to say ‑‑ well, it's certainly been the case in the Enbridge case that there has been an evolution in the utility's thinking about that value proposition; whereas at one time experts for the utility were arguing that it was a way of saving utility ratepayers' money, that there has been some evolution in the utility's perspective on that point, as demonstrated in the Enbridge case.


So my response to Mr. Smith's submissions is that what we are seeking to do, our plan with respect to adding this item to the issues list is to bring that quantitative information to the Board in an orderly fashion.


I also observe that in other elements of its arguments, particularly in the area of DSM and concurrent proceedings, Union has been making the case for parity with Enbridge in important areas.  What we are asking for, in our submission to you, is to establish continuity in the regulatory approach between the approach that the Board has called upon for Enbridge in its next case with the issues in this current proceeding.


In the Enbridge ‑‑ my final submission is that in the Enbridge case, the matter of a QRAM and how the interaction between the QRAM and the risk management process works and what its ultimate impacts are at the consumer level, that was a matter of the Board's attention and interest in the Enbridge case; whereas it didn't arise in nearly the same stark fashion in the 0063 case.


So I rely upon those observations in my response to Mr. Smith in making the argument in favour of the addition of gas cost risk management to the issues list.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Mr. Millar, do you have any questions?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Quesnelle.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Adams, could you expand a little bit on the point you made of the evolution of the utility's evidence in this matter, as well?


You mentioned that originally they argued one thing.  Could you expand on that and describe where you think it's gone? 


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Risk management has history.  The utilities have, over time, identified objectives for the risk management program.  I appreciate that in this instance the utility has not filed evidence on this matter.  They're not asking for any changes to their approach.  


But if you go back and track the supporting justification that the utilities have provided over time, there is broadly consistency between the regulated utilities.  Their risk management programs are very similar to each other.  They had similar intentions.


Those intentions have not been the same over time.  There has been an evolution, and the evolution that we have detected, that I believe the record indicates, is that at one time there was a hope that these risk management programs could meet the market, that the value proposition provided consumers with real protection.  


Over time, the utilities have become less convinced of that position and more drawing their justification around reduction in volatility.


So I think the utilities have adjusted their position, and I respect that.  I think that that is certainly justifiable as the course of their business history has developed and the track record has expanded.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  If I may, because there is no evidence of Union's prior position on the record that Mr. Adams has put forward, I am advised by my client that it's never been Union's position that it wanted to beat the market, that it's always been part of its goal to reduce volatility.  That's clear in the 0063 decision, and it's certainly the exact same program that's being carried forward through this application.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams, you do have the last word.


MR. ADAMS:  This is one of the reasons why this item ought to be added to the issues list, in my submission.  I am just making statements out of the air here, and --


--- Laughter


MR. SMITH:  I wasn't going to make that submission, but...


MR. ADAMS:  I am not supported by the record of proceedings in previous cases, but if you are moved by my submissions and add this to the issues list, we will have a complete record and you will have all of the appropriate information upon which to make the decision.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  We will go on to the next issue now, issue 6.12, I believe, appropriateness of the M12 and CI transportation and storage agreements.


MR. KEYS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I believe TransCanada has ownership of that issue.  Hopefully, based on discussions that TransCanada has had in the last day with Union and other parties, we may be able to deal with this issue fairly easily.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 6.10 BY MR. KEYS:

MR. KEYS:  Perhaps I will start with some background information for context.  
     Through agreement with parties at the issues conference, issue 6.10, which originated with TransCanada as well, was added to the list.  Specifically, issue 6.10 as it's worded, relates to rate schedules for M12 and C1 services, and the scope TransCanada was concerned that the scope may not extend to terms and conditions of M12 and C1 services which may form part of the M12 and C1 transportation contracts, and which may be outside of the M12, C1 rate schedules.
     Accordingly, TransCanada also proposed at the issues conference the addition of issue 6.12 to the list, and Union had opposed inclusion of the issue 6.12 as it was phrased and consequently it was reflected in the draft list as a contested issue.
     Since the issues conference, however, TransCanada has further discussed with Union the scope of TransCanada's interests in relation to the matters which would fall within issue 6.10 and 6.12 as they're presently phrased.  Further, Union's concerns with inclusion of issue 6.12 as it is presently worded.  As a result, TransCanada suggested to Union a minor wording revision to issue 6.10, which could both accommodate TransCanada's interests and address Union's concerns without the need to include issue 6.12.
     I handed out to Board counsel earlier this morning the proposed revisions to issue 6.10, that TransCanada seeks to advance.  I understand other interested parties in the room may have copies of this proposed wording as well.
     Specifically TransCanada proposes to amend the wording in existing issue 6.10 to read as follows:  “Are the terms and conditions of M12 and C1 services, including the proposed rate schedule changes, appropriate (excluding the consideration of potential new services for power producers)?"
     It's TransCanada's understanding through discussions with Union yesterday and today, that they are supportive of TransCanada's proposed revisions to issue 6.10, and if the revisions are acceptable to the Board and to other parties, then TransCanada would be prepared to withdraw its request for inclusion of contested issue 6.12.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Keys, is it?
     MR. KEYS:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Keys.
     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, might we give this an exhibit number?  I have actually taken the liberty of marking it on your copy but we haven't added it to the record.  This would be ID number 2.
     EXHIBIT NO. ID.2:  TransCanada’s proposed revision to 
issue 6.10
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  May I take comments from other parties before I turn to Union?
     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, on behalf of TransAlta and Coral, we strongly support the revision suggested by TransCanada and the revised wording does the trick for both of those clients, as does the removal of issue 6.12.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.
     MR. RYDER:  Yes, Kitchener would like to add its support for this issue.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.  

Mr. Smith.
     MR. SMITH:  We're certainly fine with the proposal agreed to.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.
     Good.  We will go on to the next contested issue.  Issue 7.4.
     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I believe, Madam Chair, that that is proposed by Pollution Probe.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.

PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 7.4 BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And is the contested issue referring to whether proposed budgets and targets for 

fuel-switching programs are appropriate.  
     My understanding is that in general, the idea of review of fuel switching this year is not the issue, but instead the issue relates to the generic DSM hearing, namely whether or not review of fuel-switching programs should be undertaken in this hearing or in the generic DSM hearing.
     Pollution Probe suggests that it should be added to this issues list in this proceeding for a number of reasons.  Pollution Probe doesn't think that fuel switching is generally considered as DSM and Pollution Probe thinks that's been position that the Board, generally speaking, in other words, it traditionally has not been considered DSM.
     In fact, I glanced at the issues list and the hearing notice for the generic hearing, and the wording there, I think, suggests or supports that point.  I will come back to that in a minute.
     The conceptual reason, in my submission, why that has historically been position and why it makes sense and why fuel switching is not considered DSM, is that fuel switching increases the through-put volume of the gas utility because when customers switch from another fuel such as electricity to natural gas, there is an increase in the utility's volume.  So that, in a sense, is not either a reduction in gas for the utility, or necessarily a more efficient use of natural gas.
     Pollution Probe has always supported fuel switching to gas because of other public interests and environmental benefits, so we certainly do support it, always have, in a general way.  But it is not a reduction in natural gas use and it is not necessarily more efficient natural gas use.  So it is not DSM in that sense.  It's not conservation.
     A second or another more practical look at it is that one of the features of a conservation or DSM program is -- and this has always been the case -- by reducing the use of natural gas, conservation creates an incentive problem with the utility, because, to the extent that natural gas is their business, reducing natural gas use seems to set up a dissidence and that is why, for years, Pollution Probe has -- and others, have advocated for and the Board has adopted measures to counteract that, such as the lost revenue adjustment mechanism, the LRAM, which offsets the effect on the utility, and then the shared-savings mechanism, or SSM, which puts in place a bonus for reducing gas use.
     Those have been deemed necessary by the Board because of the effect of conservation on the utilities, on the natural gas utilities.
     Fuel switching doesn't have those characteristics.  In fact, fuel switching is the opposite.  By switching customers to natural gas, there is a benefit to the utility in some ways from doing that.  In the short term, it increases the revenue of the natural gas utility by having more through-put volume come to it.  It increases profits by increasing the distribution revenues.  So there is already an incentive, if you will, on the utility to encourage fuel switching.
     In the longer term, because adding through-put volume through fuel switching will tend to increase the infrastructure and the rate base, there is increased earnings per share from the increased rate base.  So for all of these reasons, fuel switching to the utility, to natural gas, is something that is of benefit to the utility in various ways.  So it has completely different incentives and practical issues as compared to what has usually been called DSM or conservation measures.
     So for that reason, it's in our submission not really something that is essentially appropriate for the generic DSM hearing.  The issues list for the generic hearing, although it has, at the end, I think item number 14 on the issues list, only addresses, in two items, whether it is appropriate to use DSM funds for fuel switching.

So the real issues about fuel switching, you know, the targets and the budgets that we talk about here, those things aren't even on the issues list for the generic hearing.   I think that is natural, because it's never really been considered, DSM.  


So the bottom line is, for those historical reasons and that sort of conceptual difference and the practical reasons, Pollution Probe suggests there it is entirely appropriate that it be an issue in this proceeding.


There is, then, very much the other issue about if fuel switching is ‑‑ well, there is the other issues about exclusion ‑‑ issues excluded from here that are put over to the DSM issue, to the DSM generic hearing, but that is somewhat different.


Pollution Probe suggests that for a variety of reasons, it really makes sense to have it in this hearing.  So those are our submissions today.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.


Parties supporting Mr. Klippenstein's position?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Madam Chair, CME agrees with the submissions that Mr. Klippenstein has so eloquently put forward, and also agrees with the historical treatment of fuel switching having been not a DSM program.


To change that, landscape would be to -- given that the companies are now seeking to add in their TRC calculations cross-commodity benefits, it would take the basic function of advocating gas, which is their obligation, which is their ability to expand and grow their distribution network, which is their shareholder motivation, and giving credit where there is none. 


So for these reasons -- for this reason, as well as the reasons stated by Mr. Klippenstein, we believe that this issue is appropriately on the list in this proceeding.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Any other parties supporting the position?


Mr. Smith?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, Union contests the issue for this simple reason.  It is on the Board's procedural order for the generic proceeding.  With respect to my friend Mr. Dingwall's comments, regardless of the historical view of DSM, whether this constitutes DSM or not, the Board has now issued a procedural order, which I have attached at tab 9 to Exhibit 1.  Issue 14.1 and 14.2 deal with whether or not it is appropriate to use DSM funds for fuel switching to natural gas, or is it appropriate to use DSM funds for fuel switching away from natural gas?


As I heard my friend, Mr. Klippenstein's submissions, to a lesser extent Mr. Dingwall's, those are all submissions that he will have -- Pollution Probe and CME will have every opportunity to make during the generic proceeding:  Is this something that DSM funds should be used on?  Is it in fact something that utilities should be doing at all?


In my submission, it is ‑‑ it does a disservice to the Board and a bit beyond belief to believe that having convened a generic hearing, having put this on the issues list, then hearing evidence on the matters as I am sure the Board will, the Board provide no guidance in the generic proceeding as to what should happen with fuel switching and will then direct the parties or say to the parties, I'm sorry, this should have been part of the 2007 rate case.  


I just don't see that as an outcome in the realm of possibility, given that it is on the generic proceeding issues list.  For that reason, I don't think it is appropriate for it to be in this rates case.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


Anyone supporting Mr. Smith's position?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeROSE:

MR. DeROSE:  Well, IGUA has only one comment and it is this:  It should either be in the generic hearing or in this hearing.  We shouldn't be dealing with it in both.  Our concern is that whether it is in this hearing or the generic, we don't take a position on which it should be in, but it should only be in one.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Klippenstein, do you wish to reply?


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I would only add, in response to my friend's specific reference to the issues list in a generic proceeding, that it is an odd choice of words in the issues list if it was intended to be fully adopted in that generic hearing, Because the only points that the issues list refers to is:  Is it appropriate to use DSM funds for fuel switching?


Which is an odd and narrow choice of wording, if it was intended to fully address the fuel switching issue.  We don't think it does.


So the issue of targets and budgets, for example, which are inherent to a fuel switching program issue, need to be addressed, and that's the wording that's proposed for this issues list here.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have any questions?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. QUESNELLE:  I wonder, Mr. Klippenstein, if you could compare the treatment that we've spoken of all of the DSM issues, and that we would be punting them basically to the generic issues hearing, and then depending on the outcomes, circle back to this rate case in some procedural manner, and whatever the effect is that is required on the DSM issues would circle back to this case.  That if we looked at the fuel switching in the same manner, is that something ‑‑ I wonder if you can comment on that, if the treatment was the same.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think the treatment would not be the same.  It would be completely different, for the reasons I mentioned, because fuel switching is so different, conceptually, that most of the themes that have to be examined in the generic DSM issue have very little application to it.


For example, the whole issue of incentives that the utility faces is so different that it is a different animal.  In the one case, the utility has strong incentives to do fuel switching.  In the DSM issue, it has not only very little incentive, but strong counter incentive.  So the basic structure of the incentives is so different that most of the things you talk about with DSM are almost irrelevant to fuel switching.


MR. QUESNELLE:  If I could just interject at that point, item number 14 in the draft issues list of the generic proceeding that we've just discussed, the question 14.1:  Is it appropriate to use DSM funds for fuel switching to natural gas?


Would you not see that as an opening to make the comments that you are now and explore further?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, I don't disagree with it being appropriate in these terms to have on the generic issues list, but this is just a small sub-issue of the bigger issue.


If we ‑‑ if Pollution Probe in the generic issue said these are the issues that need to be addressed with respect to fuel switching, we might be accused of trying to drive a truck through a small little hole, because there are many issues with respect to fuel switching that go beyond whether it is appropriate to use DSM funds for that.


So I don't think it is a good use of the Board time to punt them over there, and then have them return to some kind of phase II hearing here.


It would be inefficient and it is not necessary, in my submission.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, I want to explore the same train of thought.


If we were to leave the issue, as you stated it, on the issues list for this proceeding, you don't envision that the questioning, discussion and submissions on that issue ‑- are you saying that they would not fall under the realm of DSM?  Those discussions would not be around DSM and the impacts of fuel switching to DSM or the appropriateness of using DSM funds for fuel switching, or issues about whether or not the DSM programs and fuel switching programs might counteract one another, all of those kinds of questions?


You don't foresee them being heard in this proceeding?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  No.  I think that ‑- in other words, I guess it is the flip side of the issue, which is:  Do these generic issues inevitably have to be considered in this hearing?  I think the answer is no, partly because historically I don't think that the financial incentive issues have been applied to fuel switching.  In other words, the LRAM and SSM to fuel switching, because it's always been recognized that it doesn't apply.  It doesn't make sense.  It is not necessary.  

 
So I don't think that these issues on the generic hearing list need to be dealt with much, if at all, in this hearing.
     MS. NOWINA:  So you see this issue 7.4.1 essentially looking at the prudence of these budgets and targets?
     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  Prudence is a -- one word, but I would say that doesn't fully capture it.
     Prudence is a word that is inherently passive, if you will.  And Pollution Probe would probably be suggesting that the budgets and targets should be larger than proposed.  That’s -- in other words, more aggressive fuel switching is appropriate.  I would say subject to a more detailed review of the evidence and so forth.  So in general, could you say is it imprudent to have too small budgets and targets I guess you could say yes and we would say yes, so prudence may not be the best word.  
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.
     I have lost track of where we were in the process.  

Mr. Smith, did you get your opportunity to respond to this?
     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think we each have two more rounds.
     MS. NOWINA:  I have lost my score card.
     MR. SMITH:  You have my submissions, which are that -- from Union's perspective this looks like it is going to be a matter that is going to be dealt with in the generic proceeding.  And I don't see, as Mr. Klippenstein suggested, how we can avoid an entire examination of the appropriateness of being engaged in fuel switching and not have inevitable duplication.  So I think Mr. De Rose raises a good point, you're either in or out.  I think there is definitely spot where the Board indicated it is going to be in, and it is not this proceeding.
     Union has not proposed, for example, any fuel-switching budget in this proceeding.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
     MR. SMITH:  I think that brings us to the last issue.
     MS. NOWINA:  I think that brings us to the end of that question.  Issue 7.5.
     MR. RYDER:  Yes, I think that is mine.
     MS. NOWINA:  Yours, Mr. Ryder?  Please proceed.

PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 7.5 BY MR. RYDER:
     MR. RYDER:  For service under each of rate 16, 20, 25, 77, 100, M4, M5A, M6A, M7, M9, T1, T2, R1 and M12 and also I think for the unbundled rates the Board has stipulated that services conditional on the customer first entering into a contract.
     So the regulated service to each of these contract customers is covered by two documents, the rate schedule and the individual customer contract.
     The contracts cover customer-specific items such as the amount of storage allocation, space to be allocated; the level of deliverability, that is the rate that you can get gas from storage; the contract demand and the daily contract quantity.
     So very significant components in the regulated service have been, in effect, delegated by the Board to the contract process, instead of having them in the rate schedule.
     So clearly the contract is fully within and subject to the Board's jurisdiction.
     Now, impasses can occur in negotiations between the customer and Union.  To resolve impasses and submit them to some form of regulatory oversight, a process was established by the Board at pages 61 and 62 of its decision in RP-2003-0063, and that gives customers some recourse to resolve impasses in the negotiations with Union.
     The issue now simply is whether that process continues past this rate case.
     If ever there was an issue which is likely to be resolved at the ADR session, I submit this is it.  So I submit that this issue is both appropriate for consideration and one that is likely to be disposed of quickly.
     Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ryder, do we have before us the wording in that decision?  I don't know whether Mr. Smith put it in his book of materials.
     MR. RYDER:  I don't think it is.  I have it here, if I can pass it up to you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps you could read it.  I think it is only a couple of sentences.  Perhaps you can read it into the record for us.
     MR. RYDER:  It is quite length.
     MS. NOWINA:  Is it quite lengthy?
     MR. RYDER:  Well, it's a couple of paragraphs.  I can, perhaps -- I think the appropriate section is-- begins at the bottom paragraph, in the middle of the bottom paragraph on page 61.
     
“The Board recognizes that there may be cases in 

which agreement cannot be achieved.  The Board believes that the contract class forecast should incorporate the input of the customers and the belief that the contract customer possesses some relevant information that Union may not have access to.  As such, the Board believes that Union should work cooperatively with these individual customers to develop forecasts that both parties can agree on.  

The Board recognizes that there may be cases in which agreement cannot be achieved at this stage.  Should this be the case, the Board expects the parties to communicate with Board Staff, informing staff of the impasses, negotiations and requesting any staff assistance that may bring the parties to agreement.  If this second stage should not be successful, the Board expects both parties to inform the Board to seek Board resolution of the dispute.
     The Board expects that any outstanding differences in this regard will be brought to the Board's attention well in advance of the associated rates proceeding.”

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder, that is helpful.
     MR. RYDER:  I'm asked to continue.

“With respect to the T3 forecast, the Board urges Kitchener and Union to work together again in a timely fashion to resolve such specific issues as normalization of load and asset allocations.”

    MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Is there anyone who takes a supporting position?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, School Energy Coalition supports the inclusion on this list.  We have no other submissions.  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  

Anyone else?  Mr. Smith.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:
     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I don't propose to get into paragraphs -- sorry, pages 61 and 62.
     What the Board was envisioning here, be it disputes about through-put, normalization of load or asset allocations, I would simply say this:  That this is not an appropriate issue.  What -- conceptually it is not an appropriate issue.  

What Kitchener is asking the Board for is confirmation of some -- of its earlier wording, its earlier decision.
     If the City of Kitchener or other intervenors are looking for that, there is a process to do that, either by way of letter to the Board, if that is the way to deal with it, or by way of application.  But it is not an appropriate issue in a rates case, because it has nothing to do with rates.  There is, frankly, no evidence Union could lead that would be of assistance to the Board to determine whether the Board believes that its earlier ruling is still in effect and what that means.
     Essentially, I believe that if Kitchener wants this as an issue or seeks the confirmation they believe they need 

-- I'm not sure why they do -- but if they believe they need something, then they should address it with the Board.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Mr. Ryder, do you have a response?
     MR. RYDER:  Yes, thank you.  

I submit that the better approach than a letter would be to put it on the issues list; give the parties an opportunity to address it in the ADR session; and if agreement is reached, then the Board's approval would be noted when it approved the ADR agreement.


That process, at least, allows Union and other parties to discuss the matter.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.  Mr. Millar, do you have any questions?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  That concludes, I believe, the contested issues.


Are there any other matters for our consideration?


Hearing none, we will adjourn for the day.  We will have to ‑‑ we will attempt to get the revised issues list to you as soon as possible, as well as a revised schedule to you as soon as possible.


We are now adjourned.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:15 p.m.
PAGE  

